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INTRODUCTION.

TrE fifth letter of Hernando Cortes to the Emperor
Charles V, describing his expedition to the bay of
Honduras, has never, to our knowledge, been turned
into English. In 1843, a citizen of the United
States translated® the second, third, and fourth—the
only ones published during the conqueror’s lifetime,
and often reprinted since; but of the first and last in
order no satisfactory account could then be given, as
they had long been missing, and had not yet ap-
peared in the original Spanish. Robertson was the
first to suspect that they might possibly be dis-
covered in some of the archives at Vienna, the
Emperor Charles being in Germany when one of
them reached Europe. And so it turned out to be,
for in a manuscript volume of the Imperial Library,
marked CXX, an attested copy of the former was
found, of which that diligent historian soon pub-
lished an abstract.t Along with it, in the same
volume, was Cortes’ fifth letter, or Carta quinta de

# «The Despatches of Hernando Cortes, the Conqueror of

Mexico, addressed to the Emperor Charles V.” By George

Folson. New York, 1843, 8vo.
+ « History of America.”” Notes and Illustrations, xevii,
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relacion, which we now give in English for the first
time.

Of the missing letters, the first, dated July 10,
1519, wherein an account is given of the conqueror’s
first landing at Veracruz, and of his subsequent pro-
gress into the country, was first published® in 1844,
by the learned and much regretted Navarrete. The
fifth appeared soont after; and since then both have
been reprinted, first by Don Enrique de Vedia in
Ribadeneyra’s Biblioteca de Autores clasicos,i and
afterwards by the present translator.§ Doubts, how-
ever, have been entertained about the first of these
letters, some critics asserting—not without founda-
tion—that besides the Relacion, which, though signed
by Cortes himself, appears addressed to Charles V
by the Justicia y Regimiento of Veracruz, or in
other words by the municipal corporation of the
town newly founded by him : there must have been
another—perhaps, too, a fuller one—sent to the
Emperor in the conqueror’s own name, as commander
of the small force that set foot on the shores of the
Mexican empire. The facts stated in either must
have been substantially the same; and yet such were
the magnitude and importance of the undertaking,
and the peculiar turn of the hero’s mind, that it

* ¢« Coleccion de Documentos inéditos para la historia de
Espaiia,” vol. i, pp. 421-61.

+ Vol. iv, pp. 1-167.
1 “Historiadores primitivos de Indias,” tom. i, 1852, vol. xx,
pp- 1-153.

§ “Cartas de Hernan Cortes al Emperador Carlos V.” Paris,
1866. -
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makes us regret that this portion of his own personal
narrative has been lost.*

But if objections have been raised against the
text of the first Relacion, it is not so with regard to
the fifth, the most important of all in a geographical
point of view; for if we only cast a glance at the
map of that portion of central America traversed by
Cortes in his route to Honduras, we cannot but ad-
mire his chivalrous spirit—not uncommon in that
age—his undaunted and patient courage in moments
of danger and privation, his aptitude for command
and other qualifications for such an adventurous
undertaking. 'With a handful of men, with no other
assistance but that of a small compass, and of a very
imperfect map furnished him by the natives of Ta-
basco, marking the principal places visited by Indian
traders in their wanderings over those wild regions ;
with such guides as from time to time he could
pick up in his journey, Cortes traversed that broad
and level tract which forms the base of Yucatan, and
spreads from the Coatzacoalco river to the head of
the gulf, called by the Spaniards of those times
Golfo de las Hibueras, and now known as Bay of
Honduras—thus performing one of the longest and
most perilous marches ever attempted in ancient or
modern times.

* Gonzalez Barcia, who was the first to reprint the three
letters (second, third, and fourth), was of opinion that the one
written by Cortes after his landing at Veracruz was perhaps the
same that the Council of the Indies is said to have suppressed at
the request of Pamphilo de Narvaez, or that which Juan de
Flores took from Alonso de Avila.
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The causes that brought on and determined Cortes’
expedition are well known. It was a common belief
among Spaniards of that time—and principally among
those who, impelled by a spirit of adventure, left
their country for the New World—that the Pacific
was no other than the far-famed Indian Ocean,
studded with golden isles, and teeming with the
rich treasures of the East. Cortes, like most Spaniards
of his day, firmly believed in a strait which should
connect the two seas, and his letters to the Em-
peror are filled with this favourite idea, which he
seems to have cherished to the last day of his life.
“Most of all,” does he say in one of his letters* to the
Emperor, “do I exult in the tidings lately brought
me of the Great Ocean; for in it, as cosmographers
and those learned men who know most about the
Indies inform me, are scattered innumerable isles
teeming with gold and pearls, abounding in precious
stones, as well as in spices, and where, I feel confi-
dent, many wonderful secrets and admirable things
may be discovered.”t Again, in 1524, he wrote:
“Your Majesty may be assured that knowing, as I
do, how much you have at heart the discovery of
this great mystery of the seas, I shall postpone all
interests and projects of my own—some of them of
the highest moment—for the fulfilment of this great
object,”

Accordingly, no sooner had he entered Mexico for
the second time, than he fitted out two expeditions,

* ¢« Tercera Relacion,” ap. Lorenzana, p. 302.
+ “Quarta Relacion,” 1b., p. 385.
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which, after reaching Mechaocan, penetrated to the
borders of the Great Southern Ocean. No European
had yet descended on its shores so far north of the
equator. They visited on their return some of the
rich districts towards the north, bringing samples of
gold and pearls from the Gulf of California.

Another expedition fitted out at Zacatula, in the
Gulf of Mexico, and destined to the coast of Florida,
was equally successful ; and though the wonderful
passage that was to connect the two seas was not
found, the always increasing reports of the fer-
tility of the land and the richness of its mines con-
firmed Cortes in his belief, and made him more eager
than ever to discover the ‘““great mystery of the sea,”
as he often calls it in his letters to the Emperor.

For this purpose he prepared another and larger
squadron, and giving the command of it to Christoval
de Olid—the brave officer who commanded one of
the divisions of the besieging army—instructed him
to steer for Honduras and form a colony on its
northern shore. This being accomplished, a detach-
ment of his squadron was to cruise along its northern
shores towards Darien, and look out most diligently
for the mysterious strait. About the same time
Alvarado terminated the important conquest of Gua-
temala, thus extending the limits of the conquest,
and increasing the geographical knowledge of those
seas.

Olid, however, turned out unfaithful. Having
touched at La Havana, he was there persuaded by
Velasquez, the bitter enemy of Cortes, and at the-
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time more enraged with him than ever,* to strike
out for himself and proclaim independence. No
sooner, therefore, had that officer reached his destina-
tion and made a settlement on the adjoining coast,
than he shook off his allegiance to Cortes—under
whose orders he was acting, and with whose treasure
the expedition had been fitted out—publicly de-
claring that he would hold his conquest in the
Emperor’s name, without any subjection to his com-
mander-in-chief. And not only did he thus rebel
against Cortes’ authority, but hearing that some
Spaniards under Gil Gonzalez Davila, coming from
the Western Islands, had settled higher up the
coast, he sent against them part of his force and
took their leader prisoner. Francisco de las Casas,
a kinsman of the conqueror, was dealt with in a
similar manner. On the news of Olid’s rebellion
reaching Mexico, Cortes had dispatched him at the
head of a small force in three vessels, with orders
to seize the person of his rebellious lieutenant and
bring him to his presence ; but after some fighting,
which ended in negociation, the vessel on board
of which Las Casas was, struck on a rock, and was
wrecked on the shore; upon which Olid—who from
the beginning was treacherously inclined, and had
only consented to treat with a view to gain time—
seized the opportunity, and took him prisoner.

* Some time previous to this event the influence of Bishop
Fonseca, one of the members of the Council most opposed to
Cortes, had ceased to be felt at court, and the long-pending suit
between him and Velasquez had been decided in his favour.
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Shortly after, however, Gonzalez Davila and Las
Casas, who had been allowed to move freely about
the camp, joined in a conspiracy against the usurper
—whose tyranny and arrogance had become in-
tolerable even to his own men—and having with the
assistance of their numerous partisans surprised Olid
in his own dwelling, secured his person, had him
tried by court-martial, and publicly beheaded him
at Naco.

Of these late proceedings Cortes had no knowledge
whatever. No tidings of the death of Olid and of
Las Casas’ ultimate success had reached him; and
although he had every reason to trust in the loyalty
of his kinsman and lieutenant, he must have had
serious misgivings about the fate of the expedition
under his orders. On the other hand, were Olid’s
defection to remain unpunished, the most mischievous
consequences might be apprehended for the future,
as it would prove a dreadful blow dealt to his autho-
rity in the newly conquered land. He therefore de-
termined to go to Honduras himself; he might thus
be able to ascertain from personal inspection the
mineral resources of the country, and perhaps dis-
cover that point of communication between the two
seas which his lieutenant had been unable to find,
and which he still felt confident was reserved by
Providence to his own exertions. Accordingly, on
the 12th October, 1524,* Cortes left Mexico with

* There can be no doubt about this date, and yet there are
letters of Cortes to the Emperor, dated Mexico, 18th and 15th
of October, in the latter of which he informs him that ke has de-
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about four hundred Spaniards and three thousand
Indian auxiliaries, taking with him the proud but
unfortunate Guatemozin—who was to meet with his
death on the road—and several other Mexican chiefs.
He was accompanied by Gonzalo de Salazar, the
factor, Pero Armildez Chirinos, the veedor or royal
inspector, and other crown officers. The administra-
tion of justice and the government of the country he
left in the hands of the treasurer, Alonzo de Estrada,
and of the accounting-master (contador), Rodrigo de
Albornoz, assisted by a lawyer named Alonzo de
Zuazo. No sooner, however, had he reached the
town of Espiritu Santo, when news came to him of
serious disturbances in the capital, owing to his
lieutenants having quarrelled among themselves; and,
though he immediately provided for the emergency
by sending back in all haste Salazar and Chirinos to
take the government of the city into their hands,
this was not accomplished until some months after,
when much blood had been shed, and a rival faction
created, which ever after was hostile to Cortes and
to his administration.

sisted from his intended ewpedition to Honduras. This difficulty,
however, has been overcome by Garcia Icazbalceta, in his recent
Ooleccion de Documentos para la historia de Mexico, p. 41—a work
of much research, and where many an interesting paper has been
published for the first time—by surmising that Cortes really left
on the 12th, and encamped in the outskirts of the city for some
days, but went on dating his letters from Mexico, a practice not
at all uncommon in those times. It is not so easy to determine
what reasons he had to make the Emperor Charles V believe that

he abandoned his idea, when he evidently was more intent than
ever on its prosecution.
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Notwithstanding the anxiety which such news
must have caused him ; notwithstanding the almost
incredible fatigues and dangers of a march through
unknown regions, inhabited by wild Indian tribes ;
Cortes, with a resolution and a steadiness of purpose
that cannot be sufficiently praised, accomplished his
object, and, after an absence of nearly two years, re-
turned to Mexico, where new disturbances had
broken out.

To determine the spots visited by him in this
extraordinary march through almost impenetrable
forests, swampy plains, or lofty mountains, has by
some writers been pronounced a hopeless task ;* and
though we possess the narrative of that stout-hearted
and sturdy soldier Bernal Diaz, who formed part of
the expedition and carefully noted down its princi-
pal events ; though the various provinces traversed
by the devoted army have since been more or less
explored by travellers of all nations,} few are the in-

* Mr. Prescott, among others, despaired of ever accomplish-
ing it. “I have examined,” says he, “some of the most an-
cient maps of the country by Spanish, French, and Dutch
cosmographers, and I can detect on them only four or five of the
places indicated by Cortes.” Conguest of Mexico, book vii,
chapter iii; see also Stevens’ Incident of Travel.

+ About ten years ago, an enterprising French traveller, Mr.
Arthur Morelet, published two volumes of travels in these remote
regions. Starting from Havana, in the island of Cuba, and land-
ing at Sisal, on the western coast of Yucatan, he travelled by
land from Merida to Campeachy, entered the Laguna de Ter-
minos, ascended the river Palizada until it joins the Uzumazinta,
and proceeding afterwards in an eastern direction, traversed the
continent to Flores on the lake Itza, crossing on his route the
rapides de Tenosique and the river Yalchilan. Bending then
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dications—and those very slight—of the route they
followed. He must have passed near the ruins of
" Palenque, since the small village of Las tres Cruzes
is said to derive its name from three wooden crosses
left in that locality. We know also that he crossed
the Sierra de los Pedernales by a most dangerous
pass, to which he gave the name of Puerto del
Alabastro, and that after a march of five days
through districts more or less inhabited, he reached
a large lake, which appeared to him to be an arm of
the sea, but could be no other than the Laguna de
Peten, or Itza, as it is otherwise called, in the country
of the Lacandones, the most warlike nation of those
parts. He seems to have visited the Indian town in
the middle of the lake, and destroyed the Indian
teocallis or temples on it, leaving unequivocal traces
of his passage. Lastly, the situation of the two
towns Naco and Nito, where the wretched and half-
starved relics of former expeditions were found, is
equally ascertained. But beyond these few places,
on an extent of country calculated at one thousand
miles, we hardly know which is the precise route
followed by the conquerors. They must have crossed
more than once the Rio de San Pedro, perhaps,
too, the Uzumazinta,* across one of which rivers
towards the south, he visited Santiago de Guatemala and Iztapan,
and making for the lake Yrazabal and Golfo Dulce, returned by
sea to La Havana. He must thus have gone through a portion
of the country traversed by Cortes, and yet either he had no
knowledge of this letter, or else he could not identify any of the

spots named by the conqueror in his narrative.
* This river has its source in the mountains of Peten, not far
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Cortes himself informs us a bridge was thrown
measuring 934 spans in breadth. Indeed, though
the native writers tell us that some of these bridges
were still standing many years after, and were
generally known as Las Puentes de Cortes, they have
neglected to say the precise spot on which they
stood, thereby increasing our perplexity and doubt
in this matter. Neither is Cortes’ narrative as clear
and connected as might have been expected, being
evidently drawn up some time after his return to
Mexico, and when some of the events of a march so
fraught with dangers of all kinds, as well as the
names of Indian localities and chiefs on his passage,
may have escaped his memory.

To those English readers who take an interest in
geographical discovery, and who know how imperfect
our knowledge has hitherto been, and is still, of the
regions traversed by Cortes in his wonderful march
across Central America, the translation of this letter
—in every respect one of the most interesting he

from San Luis. It runs first in a south-western direction under
the name of Santa Isabel, and mixes its waters with those of
another considerable river called Lancontun. Flowing then to-
wards the north with increased rapidity, it takes the name of
Rio de la Pasion, and again at Tenosique, the last village in the
province of Tabasco, resumes its old name (Uzumazinta). Cross-
ing there the imposing chain of mountains that separates Mexico
from Central America, it branches out into three rivers, the most
western of which preserves its name until it mixes its waters
with the Grijalva, above La Frontera. The other two are
known as San Pedrito and Palizada, and all empty their waters
into the Mexican Gulf. Voyages dans U'Amériqgue Centrale, U'Ile
de Cuba, et le Yucatan. Paris, 1857, vol. ii, p. 23.
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ever addressed to the Emperor—cannot fail to be
acceptable. We have carefully noted down the vari-
ous readings afforded by the only two copies known
to be in existence, the Vienna one, already alluded
to, and another one which Don Juan Bautista Mufioz,
the historian, saw in the National Library at Madrid.
Neither of them, in our opinion, is sufficiently correct,
since they scarcely once agree as to the writing of
proper names, already very much corrupted by the
conquerors themselves; yet we are inclined to give
the preference to the latter, if, as asserted, it was
made upon the original of Cortes by Alonso Diaz,
one of his officers.




THE

FIFTH LETTER OF HERNAN CORTES.

Most SAcRED MAJESTY :—On the 23rd day of the month of
October of the year 1525 past, I dispatched from the town
of Trujillo, off the port and cape of Honduras, to the
Hispaniola, a vessel, and in her a servant of mine, with
orders to pass over to those kingdoms of Spain. The said
servant was the bearer of letters, wherein I informed your
Majesty of some events which had occurred at the gulf
called Las Hibueras' between the two captains® I had sent
thither and another captain named Gil Gonzalez, who went
afterwards. And as I was unable at the time the said vessel
and messenger departed, to give your Majesty any account
of ‘my journey and adventures, from the moment I left this
great city of Tenuxtitlan until I met with the people of
those distant parts, it seemed to me important that your
Highness should become acquainted with my doings, were
it only for the sake of not failing in my invariable custom,
which is to advise your Majesty of all things wherein I am
concerned. I will therefore narrate events plainly and to
the best of my ability, because, were I to attempt drawing

! The name of this gulf is variously written—Higiieras, Higueras, etc. ;
but Herrera and Juarros, both good historical authorities, call it
Hibiieras, which in the dialect of the country means * pumpkins,” from
a species abounding in that locality.

2 These were Christoval de Olid and Francisco de las Casas.
' 1
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them in their proper colouring, I am sure I could not do it,
and, moreover, my narrative might perhaps be unintelligible
to those for whom it is destined ; and will relate only the
principal and most remarkable incidents of the said journey,
passing over in silence many others, as accessory, which
might also have furnished ample matter for much writing.
Having taken my measures in the matters concerning
Christoval de Olid, as I wrote to your Majesty,! I began to
consider how long 1 had been inactive, and without under-
taking things that might be of service to your Majesty ; and
although my arm was still sore and painful,® I determined
upon doing something useful. I therefore left this great
city of Tenuxtitlan® on the 12th day of October of the year
1524 last, followed by a few horse and foot, chosen among
my own retainers and servants, and by some friends and
connexions of mine. In this number were Gonzalo* de
Salazar and Peralmindez Chirino,’ the former a factor, and
the latter a veedor of your Majesty. I likewise took with
me the principal among the natives of the land; and
left the administration of justice and the government of
the country in the hands of Alonso de Estrada and Rodrigo
de Albornoz, the treasurer and accounting-master of your
Majesty, conjointly with the licenciate Alonso de Zuazo.
I provided this® city with the necessary artillery, ammuni-

! In his letter to the emperor, dated from Tenuxtitlan, 15th of Octo-
ber, 1524, Cortes announced his determination to go in search of his re-
bellious lieutenant. .

z No doubt from the wound received during the siege.

3 (Generally written Temixtitan, Temixtiltan, or Tenestutan; fre-
quently also Tenuxtitlan, as in the text, which reading I have adopted
as most resembling Tenochtitlan, which I believe to be its real Aztec
name.

4+ The Vienna copy says Agustin, which is a mistake.

5 The name of this individual, who was veedor, . e., surveyor or in-
spector, is variously written, throughout Cortes’ correspondence, Peral-
mildez, Pero Armildez Chirinos, and Pedro Almindez.

¢ Cortes was at Mexico when he wrote this.
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the Indians who had brought the letter, and in this manner
arrived at Iztapan late in the evening. I there found the
Spaniards in a high state of glee, owing to their having
discovered,besides many maize plantations—though the grain
had not yet reached its maturity—great abundance of yuca
and agi,! two plants which constitute the principal food of
the people of the Islands,” and make a tolerably good meal.

Immediately upon my arrival at Iztapan, I sent for the
,natives who had been taken prisoners, and asked them,
through an interpreter, what could be the reason of their
thus setting ﬁg to their houses and deserting their village,
when I intended them no harm, but on the contrary had
always given those who remained part of what I had with
me. Their answer was that the lord of Qagoatan had
arrived among them in a canoe, and had frightened them
very much, making them set their village on fire and desert
it. T then summoned the chief man to my presence, as well
as the Indians of both sexes taken at (Jagoatan, Chilapan,
and Tepetitan, and explained to him how the lord of Cagoatan
was a bad man, who had deceived them ; and that, in order
to test the truth of my words, he had only to interrogate
those Indians now before him, and ask them whether I or
any of my people had ever done them any injury. He did
ask them ; and having heard from their own mouths how
kindly I had behaved towards them, they all began to cry,
saying how much they had been deceived, and shewing
their sorrow for what they had done. I then, in order to
give them more security and confidence, granted permission
to all the Indians who had come with me fyom the other
villages to return to their homes, giving them some trifles,

1 Aji, sometimes written ag?, is the red Indian dwarf pepper of which
the Mexicans of the present day still make use for their meals. As to
the yuca, it is the plant generally known as Adam’s needle, the root of
which is farinaceous.

2 By “las Islas,” the islands, the Spaniards of this day meant Cuba,
Puerto-Rico, Santo Domingo, and other western islands.

o)
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the devil, who, being the sworn enemy of mankind, had
devised those and other similar arts to ensure their per-
petual damnation in the midst of horrible and everlasting
tortures. That the devil was thus trying to lead them
away from the knowledge of one only and true God, shutting
them from the path of salvation, and preventing by all
means in his power that they should partake of that glory
and blessed happiness awaiting those who believe in God, in
an abode of everlasting bliss, which the devil himself had lost
owing to his disobedience and malice.

That another of the objects of my mission was to inform
them how, by the will of divine Providence, your Majesty
stood obeyed and respected throughout the world, and
therefore that they were bound to place themselves under
the imperial sway, and do whatever we, who are your
Majesty’s ministers in these parts, should command them to
do. If they did as I told them, they were sure to be very
well treated, and maintained in justice, and their persons
and properties protected; if on the contrary, proceedings
would be instituted against them, and they would be pun-
ished according to law. Many other things I told them to
the same end, which I omit for brevity’s sake.

Great was the joy shewn by the lord of Iztapan when he
heard this discourse of mine. He immediately ordered
some of the Indians who had come with him to go back and
bring provisions, which they did. I gave him a few trifles
of Spanish manufacture, which pleased him exceedingly ;
and he remained in my company as long as I stayed at
Iztapan. After this, he ordered some of his men to open
a road for me to a village called Tatahuitalpan,! five leagues
up the river; and as there was in the way thither a very
deep river, he caused a beautiful bridge to be made, over
which we crossed, and had also some morasses of the very
worst description arranged and filled for our passage. He

! Sometimes written Yatahuitalpan.
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likewise gave me three canoes, in which I sent as many
Spaniards down the river to Tabasco—this being one of its
principal tributaries—where the great caravels, as I said
before, were waiting for my orders. They were to follow
the coast till they came to a cape, called Yucatan, which
they were to double, and then proceed to Assumption!
Bay, where they would find me, or else receive instructions
as to what they were to do next. I, moreover, gave orders
to the three Spaniards who went down the river that, using
their three canoes, and all those they could collect in the
provinces of Tabasco and Xiculango, they should bring me
as many provisions as they could by a great sheet of water?
communicating with the province of Aculan, forty leagues
distant from Iztapan, where I would wait for them.

The Spaniards being gone to their destination and the
road completed, I begged the lord of Iztapan to give me
three or four more canoes, and some of his people, under
a chief, who might accompany six of my "Spaniards up the
river, and endeavour, as they went on, to quiet the natives
and prevent their setting fire to their villages and deserting
them. This he did with every appearance of good will, and
my people, accompanied as they were by Indians from
Iztapan, succeeded in appeasing the inhabitants of four or
five villages up the river, as I will hereafter inform your
Majesty.

Iztapan is a very fine town. It is situated on the bank of
a very large river, and has many Mvantages which make it
a fit abode for Spaniards. Pasture is excellent along
the banks of the river: it has good arable land, and its
territory is well peopled.

1 It has already been observed elsewhere that this bay is now called
in the maps Ascension Bay.

2 The word used is estero, which in these times meant an arm of the
sea, a piece of water, sweet or salt, far inland ; sometimes, also, a creek
or small port, a gulf.
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them friends ; for not having reached this city at the time
the letters were written, these naturally said nothing about
their doings.

The day after the Indians and Spaniards sent to Aculan
had taken their departure, I with the rest of my people
began to march in that direction. I passed the night on the
mountain, and on the following day, about the hour of noon,
came to the nearest plantations and farms in the province
of Aculan. We were, however, still separated from them
by a large morass, the crossing of which gave us some
trouble, though we succeeded at last by making a detour of
nearly one league, and leading our horses by the bridle.
About the hour of vespers we arrived at the first village,
called Tigatepelt,! the inhabitants of which we found very
comfortably established in their houses, without showing the
least sign of fear. They had plenty of food for men as well
as horses, so that we were completely refreshed, and soon
forgot all past troubles.

I stayed six days at that village of Tigatepelt, and was
visited by a young Indian of prepossessing appearance, with
a good train of followers, who-said he was the son of the
lord of that country, and presented me with some gold and
birds, offering besides to place his person and estate at your
Majesty’scommand. This youth further told me that his father
had lately died, and I accordingly showed him sympathy
for his loss, though I was persuaded he was telling me an
untruth. I then gave him a necklace of Flanders beads
which I was wearing at the time and he very much prized,
after which I dismissed him, and he went away after
remaining two whole days by me of his own free will.

One of the natives of Tigatepelt, who professed to be the
chief of the place, having told me that there was in the
neighbourhood another village, also belonging to him,
whereat I could find better lodgings and more abundant

! Tizatepel in the Vienna MS.
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acknowledged that his father was alive, and that if he had
given him out as dead, it was at his own express desire. He
would go to him forthwith, and do all he could to bring him
back ; being confident of success, because his father had
already heard a great deal about me, and knew that I had
not come thither to do him harm, but on the contrary, to
give him and his people of such trifles as I carried with me.
He would have come already, only that, as he had given
himself out as dead, he felt somewhat ashamed of appearing
in my presence.

I again begged the youth to go and try what he could do.
He went, and returned the day after accompanied by his
father, who made me his excuses, saying that, not knowing
what my object was in coming to his estates, he had thought
it prudent to deny himself; but now that he was acquainted
with my motives for visiting his country, he was very glad .
to see me. Ile had, it is true, through fear of me, instructed
his son to guide me by another route, away from his villages ;
but now he begged that I would go to the capital of his
states, where he resided, and where he could find greater
facilities to provide me and my people with anything we
might require.

Having made this offer, which I accepted, he gave orders
that a wide road should be opened, whilst he remained in my
company. We started the day after, and I gave him one of
my horses to ride by my side, and he went on very happy
aud contented till we came to a village called I¢ancanac,!
which is very large and full of mosques.? It stands on a
large gulf or lagoon, which traverses the country as far as
the ports of Terminos, Xiculango, and Tabasco. + Some of its
inhabitants had fled ; others were in their houses. We found
there plenty of provision, and Apospolon stayed with me in the
very rooms prepared for my lodging, though he had close by

! Another copy Cancanas.
2 See above, p. 25, and note.
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complete island. But thisis only a report; I will endeavour
to ascertain the truth of it, so as to inform your Majesty
at full length.

As far as I could learn, there is no other lord in the
whole province of Aculan but this Apospolon, of whom I
have already told your Majesty. He is the richest of the
traders of this country, and has more ships at sea. He
carries on his commerce far off, and at Nito, a town of
which I will say more hereafter, and where I met some of
the Spaniards belonging to Gil Gonzales de Avila’s suit,
there is a whole suburb filled with his agents, and among
them one of his own brothers, who manages the whole con-
cern. The chief articles of trade in those provinces consist
of cacao, cotton-cloth, colours for dyeing, and a species of
tint, with which they besmear their bodies all over to guard
against heat and cold; candlewood, to light themselves ;
aromatic resin, extracted from the pine tree, for the incen-
sing of their idols; slaves; and lastly, certain red beads,
which differ from coral, and are held in great estimation
by the natives, who ornament their persons with them
in their festivals and carousals. They also deal in gold,
though in small quantities, and mixed either with copper or
with other metals.

To this Apospolon, as well as to other worthy natives of
this province, who came to visit me, I failed not to open my
mind about their idols, informing them as I had done before
with others, of what they were to believe in order to ensure
the future salvation of their souls, and how they were to
conduct themselves in the service of your Majesty. They
listened to me with attention, seemed gratified at what I
told them, and burned many of their idols in my very
presence, declaring that they would no longer worship
them, but would obey any commands I might be pleased to
give them in your Majesty’s name. Upon which I took leave
of them, and continued my journey, as aforesaid.
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spent the night, although without water for ourselves or our
horses.

In the morning of the next day, having had the morass
strewed with branches of trees and made fit for our passage,
we cleared it, though with some difficulty, leading our
horses by the hand. Three leagues beyond the spot where
we had passcd the night we perceived a village perched on
arock. Thinking that we had not been noticed, I approached
it with great precaution, and found it so completely sur-
rounded [by palisades] that we could not for a time find an
entrance to it. At last we discovered one, and went in;
but found the village deserted, though full of provisions of
every sort, such as maize, fowls, honey, beans, and other
produce of the land; for as the inhabitants of the place were
taken by surprise, they had no time to remove any of their
stores, which were abundant, owing to their village being
a frontier one.

The village is situated, as I said before, upon a high
rock ; it has a great lake on one side, and on the other
a deep stream that throws itself into the lake. It has but
one accessible entrance, and is surrounded by a deep moat,
behind which is a wooden palisade reaching as high as
a man’s breast, and behind this palisade a kind of breast-
work made of thick boards, ten feet! high, with its embra-
sures all along to shoot out arrows, and watchtowers rising
seven or eight feet more above the said wall, which was also
flanked by round towers having large stones on the top to
throw on the assailants. All the houses in the village were
strengthened in a like manner and loopholed, and the streets
barricaded in the most scientific and effective manner possible
considering their mode of warfare and the weapons they use.

From this place I dispatched some of my people in various

1 The original here has de hasta dos estados de altura. Estado being
sometimes used in old Spanish to designate a man’s height, I have
calculated it at five feet.
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that chief, but by five or six more in the immediate neigh-
bourhood, who were all independent of each other. Every
one of these chiefs offered himself as the vassal of your
Majesty, and promised to be our friend, though I never could
persuade them to come and see me. As I had not much
time to spare, I sent each of them a verbal message, purport-
ing that I accepted their vassalage in your Majesty’s name,
and begging them to procure me guides to prosecute my
journey, which they did of very good will, giving me one
who not only was well acquainted with the countries I had
to traverse, but had even visited them, and seen the very
Spaniards in search of whom I came. I therefore, took my
departure from Tiac,and passed the night at another village,
called Yasuncabil,! which is the last of that province. I
found it deserted, and surrounded by pallisades, as were the
other two. Its chief had a most beautiful residence,
though it was built entirely of straw. We there provided
ourselves with every thing necessary for our journey, our
guide having told us that we should find a desert of five
leagues before we reached the province of Taiza,” which we
had to traverse ; and so it proved to be in reality.

Here, in the province of Magatlan, or Quiniacho, as it is
otherwise called, I dismissed the two pedlars I had stopped
on the road, as well as the guides from Aculan, giving to
each of them some small trifles, besides other things which
they were to present in my name to their respective lords,
upon which they all went away very happy and contented.
The chief of the first village in this province, who had
accompanied me, I also dismissed at this spot, allowing him
to take away with him some of his women who had been

! The Vienna copy Iiasmicabil, and even Tiasmicabil. Tiac is again
written here Tiacle.
z Elsewhere Taiga, Tahica, and even Yaiza; but perhaps Itza is
meant, which really was the name of that province.
4
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of reconnoitring. He was armed, and though surprised
by my people, he would have escaped had not a dog of
ours overtaken and seized him before he threw himself
into the water.

From this Indian I learned that his countrymen knew
nothing about my arrival. I asked him whether there was
any means of reaching the village on the island, and he
answered there was none; but that not far from the spot
there was a narrow arm of that lake, on the other side of
which we should find some plantations and houses, and that
if we managed to arrive there without being seen we were
sure to have canoes. Hearing this, I sent order to my people
to advance, and taking ten or twelve archers with me, I
followed on foot the road which that Indian had pointed out
tome. We had to cross a rather long morass, intersected by
pools, in which the water reached to our waists and some-
times higher up. In this manner we came to the plantations,
but as the road was bad, and we could not always conceal
our march, we were seen from a distance. On our arrival
the inhabitants of the place were taking hastily to-their
canoes in order to escape by the lake. I marched on the
banks for about two-thirds of a league, across plantations
and by houses, but everywhere we had been perceived,
and the inhabitants were paddling off in their canoes.
As it was late in the day, and I considered it a useless
task to follow the fugitives, I ordered my people to halt
and encamp at those plantations, taking such military
precautions as were in my power ; having been told by the
guide from Magatlan that the people about this lake were
the most numerous and warlike of all their neighbours,
and much dreaded in consequence. My guide then pro-
posed to take that little canoe in which the Indian had
come, and make for the small island in the lake, which could
be seen at a distance of about two leagues. He was well
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at seeing me, and I received him with a great show of
affection. 4

It happened that when this chief and his people presented
themselves in our camp it was the hour of mass. I ordered
one to be chaunted with great solemnity, and with the usual
accompaniment of clarions and sackbuts. He heard it with
great composure, and watched attentively all the ceremonies
of divine service. The mass over, the Franciscan friars I
had with me came on, and one of them preached a sermon,
which being translated by the interpreter, could very well
be understood by the chief and his people, wherein he in-
formed them of all things touching our faith, and gave them
to understand, by a series of arguments, how there was but
one only God, and how all those who followed their sect
were sure to be damned. The chief shewed much satisfac-
tion at what he heard, declaring that his wish was immedi-
ately to destroy all his idols, and to believe in that God of
whom we had spoken to him ; but that he wanted to be told
in what way he was to honour and worship him. That if I
chose to accompany him to his village, I would soon have
occasion to see how he ordered all the idols to be burnt in
my presence ; and he moreover begged me to leave him one
of those crosses, which I was in the habit of planting
wherever I went.

The sermon and conference over, I again spoke to the
chief, and told him about your Majesty’s greatness, and how
he and all living creatures were the natural subjects and
vassals of your Imperial Highness, and bound to your service.
That to those who did so, your Majesty granted all manner
of favours, which T, in the royal name, had already dis-
pensed, wherever I had been, to all those who had willingly
offered to be the vassals of your Majesty, and placed them-
selves under your Imperial rule. The same, or greater, I
promised to him if he followed their example.

His answer was that he never to that moment had
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village,! where I spent the rest of that day in pleasure.
‘When night came on I took leave of the chief, and under the
guidance of a native he gave me, entered the canoes, and
landed at a spot on the shore where I found already most of
my people encamped, and where we passed the night.

At this village, or rather at the plantations that were close
to the lake, I was obliged to leave one of my horses, owing
to his having got a splinter in his foot. The chief promised
to take care of the animal and cure him, but I do not know
that he will succeed, or what he will do with him.?

On the following day, after collecting together the people,
I started, preceded by the guides, and about one half a
league’s distance from the spot whereat we had encamped,
came up to a small plain and huts, and thence to a hill of

1 This chief, or canec, inhabited an island called Tayasal. When, in
1697, the Spaniards under Don Martin de Ursua took definitive posses-
sion of that country—all previous attempts having failed—they changed
its name into Nuestra Seiiora de los Remedios y San Pablo; but this
singular denomination has since become obsolete, and it is now generally
called Remedios-Peten. This may perhaps be a proper place to observe
that the word peten means a lake, and the whole of that country was in
old times, and I believe is still now, known as Peten-Itza. The town,
where the chief himself resided, must have been very large, since it
contained twenty-one adoratorios or idol-houses. When the Spaniards
conquered the island, they found it so strewed with places of worship
and stone idols, that from seven in the morning to six in the evening
they were occupied, without taking any rest, in breaking and destroying
them. '

z About this horse of Cortes a very curious anecdote is told by Villa-
gutierre. He says that when the Franciscan friars who accompanied
Ursua’s expedition in 1697 entered the island, and were looking for
a convenient spot to make of it a place of worship, they came upon
a large temple, and found inside the image of a horse tolerably well
executed in freestone. Having made inquiries about it, they were told
that the natives, out of compliment to Cortes, had raised the animal to
the rank of one of their gods, under the name of 7%iminchak, after he
had died in consequence of the excessive care they took of him, and the
respect they had for Cortes; for it would appear that instead of giving
him proper forage, they had presented him with flowers and birds, which
of course the poor beast could not eat, and thereby was starved to death.
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small elevation ; after which, at a distance of one league and
a half, we arrived again at some beautiful plains, covered
with grass, whence I sent forward some horse and foot, with
orders to stop and secure any natives they might find on
their way, our guides having told us that we should arrive
that very night at a village. Those plains we found to
abound in deer, and we hunted all that day on horseback,
and speared eighteen of them, though owing to the great
heat and to our horses being out of condition, our way having
hitheito been through mountainous or swampy districts, two
of them died from the exertion, and several more were in
great danger.

The hunting over, we proceeded on our road, and shortly
after, met some of our outrunners, who were waiting for us.
They had overcome and seized four Indian hunters, who had
just killed a lion and some iguanas—a species of large lizard
abounding in those islands. Having asked them whether at
their village they had any notion about me, they answered
they had not, and then pointed out to me the habitations or
farms whence they came, which were seen in the distance,
about one league and a half from the place where we then
stood. Thither I went in all haste, thinking I might arrive
without any difficulty, and before the inhabitants saw me;
but when I thought I was about to enter the village, and
actually saw the people moving in it, we came upon a large
lagoon, which seemed to me too deep to be crossed, and I
therefore ordered my people to halt. As the village was not
far off, I began to make signs and call the inhabitants to me,
when two Indians in a canoe, with about one dozen fowls,
came very close to the place where I stood on horseback,
with the water to the girths; but although I remained con-
versing with them a good while, and trying to persuade
them to approach the shore, they never would, through fear,
and began even to retreat towards their village. Seeing
which, one of the Spaniards who was on horseback by my
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for the numerous traders passing that way. I stayed there
one day besides that of my arrival, first because it happened
to be a festival of the church, and secondly because I
wished to give time to the pioneers, who went in front open-
ing the road. In that river near Checan we had very excel-
lent fishing, for we cut off and took a large quantity of shad,
not one of those that entered the sluice having escaped.

The day after this, we marched seven leagues, through a
rough and mountainous country, and passed the night on
the banks of a large river. On the next, after about three
leagues of very bad road, we came to a beautiful plain,
without wood, except a few pine trees. In these plains,
which extended for two leagues, we killed seven deer, and
we dined on the banks of a very fresh stream that traverses
them. After dinner we began to ascend a mountain pass,
which though of no great elevation, was exceedingly steep
and rough ; so much so, that although we led our horses by
the hand, we had still considerable difficulty in the ascent.
In coming down we found about half a league of level
country, after which there was another mountain pass, which
took us fully two hours and a half to go up and down. So
bad and rough it was, that all the horses lost their shoes
in it.

We passed that night at the bottom of the pass on the
other side of the mountain, close to a small stream, where
we remained all next day, nearly till the hour of vespers,
attending to the shoeing of our horses; for although there
were in my small army two farriers, and about ten more
men who helped in nail rivetting, the operation could not
be finished in one day. I went on to sleep three leagues
further, and left many of my men behind to attend to the
horses and wait for the Indian carriers, who, owing to the
bad roads, and to the heavy rains that fell, had necessarily
remained behind.

The day after, having heard from the guides that close
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be understood except by those who saw it with their own
eyes, and experienced the fatigues and perils of the ascent.
It will be sufficient to inform your Majesty that we were
twelve days in making the eight leagues across the pass,
and that we lost on this occasion no less than sixty-eight of
our horses, that either fell down precipices or were ham-
strung and disabled by their fall. The restarrived so fatigued
and hurt that scarcely one was of service to us, and three
months passed before any of them were fit for riding.! All
the time we were ascending this awful pass it never ceased
raining day and night, and yet the mountains we had to cross
were so shaped, having no crevices wherein the rain might
stop, that we had no water to drink, and were greatly tor-
mented by thirst, most of our horses perishing through it.
Indeed, had it not been for some which we were able to
collect in copper kettles and other vessels, whilst encamping
at night in huts made for that purpose, no man or horse
could have escaped alive. '

Whilst crossing this mountain pass, a nephew of mine fell
down and broke his leg in two or three places ; and after this
misfortune—which all of us deplored—we had the greatest
difficulty to carry him over to the other side in the state in
which he was.

But our dangers were not yet over. About one league
before we came to the farms of Tenciz,® which, as I said be-
fore, are on the other side of these mountains, we were
stopped by a large river, the waters of which were increased .
and swollen beyond measure by the late rains, so that it
was_impossible for us to cross it. The Spaniards sent in
advance to explore, finding no passage, had gone up the

! Bernal Diaz, who accompanied Cortes in this expedition, confirms
the statement, and gives a graphic account of the dangers attending the
ascent. .

2 The same place mentioned at p. 60, though here it is written Teneis,
and elsewhere Teucas.
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them whether they had any provisions, they answered me
that they had none, nor could they be procured for several
leagues round, which news put us in the greatest possible
consternation, and increased our wants beyond measure,
since for the last ten days we had fed exclusively on cores of
palm trees and palmettos, and these in small numbers, for
we were so weak that we had scarcely strength enough to
cut them down. 1 was, however, informed by one of their
chiefs that about one day’s march up the river, which had
again to be crossed at the same dangerous spot, there was a
well populated district, called Tahuytal! where I would find
abundance of maize, cacao and fowls, and that he was ready
to furnish me with a guide. I immediately sent one of
my captains in that direction, with thirty Spaniards dis-
mounted, and upwards of one thousand Indians of those who
composed my train, when the Almighty permitted that they
should find the country full of people, and great quantities
of maize, with which we were not a little restored ; although,
the distance being great and the road very bad, the provi-
sioning was not so regular as I might have wished.

From these plantations I sent forward some of my cross-
bowmen, accompanied by a guide of the country, with orders
to explore the roads in the direction of a province called
Acuculin, until they should come to a village which, accord-
ing to my information, was ten leagues beyond the place
where I was then encamped. The village was at a distance
of six leagues from Acuculin, the chief town of the province
of that name, and the lord of all that territory was Acahuil-
guin. My Spaniards arrived there unnoticed, and having
entered by surprise one of the habitations, found seven
men and one woman, with whom they returned to me,
saying that, although the road they had taken was bad

1 All copies agree in writing the name of this place Tahuytal, but it
should be observed that at p. 60 a village called Tatahuytel is also
mentioned.
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who were to be the bearers of a letter to the people of the
place, informing them of my arrival in those parts, and of
my intention to cross that river at that spot, for which pur-
pose I begged very much that they should send me all the
canoes and boats they could dispose of. This being done,
and the messengers departed, I moved on slowly towards
the river side with the whole of my small army, which took
me three whole days. Soon after my arrival, I was visited
by one Diego Nieto, who said he was there under a sentence
of exile. He procured me a boat and a canoe, in which I
embarked with ten or twelve of my suite, crossing that very
night the river, although with great danger of being drowned,
for in the middle of the stream we were assailed by a gale
of wind, and as the river is there very wide, and the crossing
was effected very close to its mouth, we were on the point
of being lost. God our Lord was pleased, however, to pre-
serve us on the occasion, and we reached the port in safety.
On the following day I fitted out another boat I found in the
harbour, by means of which, and of other boats and canoes pro-
cured in the vicinity, and which I caused to be well tied and
secured two by two, I managed to have the whole of my
small army, horses and luggage, on this side of the river, in
which operation no less than five or six days were spent.
The Spaniards whom I found settled in that place really
belonged to the expedition commanded by Gil Gonzalez de
Avila, and had been left there by him. They were eighty
in number, sixty men and twenty women. They were in
such a miserable plight that it really moved us to pity to see
them, and had I not arrived at that moment amongst them,
not one could have escaped ; for, besides being few in num-
ber and having no weapons, they were all sick or wounded,
and almost starved to death. All the provision which they
brought from the island, and a little more that they had pro-
cured in the town when they first took it from the natives, was
long ago completely exhausted ; neither had they the means
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distant eighteen leagues from the place where I then was,
and leading to some habitations where plenty of food was
found, though, owing to the great distance and bad roads,
it was of little or no avail. At these habitations, known by
the name of Leguela,! some Indians were taken, who told us
that the place where Francisco de las Casas, and Christoval
de Olid, and Gil Gonzalez de Avila had resided, and
whereat the said Christoval de Olid died, was a town called
Naco, as I have already informed your Majesty, and wil
again hereafter. The same statement had been made to me
by the Spaniards I found at Nito,® and therefore I gave
orders to clear the road, and sent forward all my men, foot
and horse, under one of my captains, keeping only with me
the servants of my household, the sick and invalids, and a
few more who preferred going by sea. I gave my instruc-
tions to that captain and bade him repair to the said town of
Naco, and try to pacify the inhabitants of the province, who,
in consequence of the arrival of those Spaniards among
them, were rather excited and disturbed. When at Naco, he
was to send ten or twelve horsemen and as many crossbow-
men to the bay and port of Saint Andrew, which is about
twenty leagues from that place. In the meantime, I, with
the sick and wounded, and the rest of the army, would pro-
ceed thither by sea, and wait for them in case I arrived first ;
if, on the contrary, they were on the spot before me, they
were to encamp and wait for orders.

¥ Al copies present the same reading, and therefore there can be no
doubt as to the name of this place, which is not on the maps.

* The Vieuna MX has: *Tambien de ello tuve yo noticia por aquellos
espaltiles que hallé en aquel puchlo de Leguela;™ but this is evidently an
errar, which arigivated v doubt in Cortes” secretary writing Leguela in-
stead of Vitw, It was at this latter place, and not at Leguola, that the con-
quennr of Mexico wet with the Spanianis.  See above, p 63 Nito and
Naww, thongh trequently coatoundad by ancieat and modern writers, are
e distinet places. The former bas siwce kst its same, and is now
Ko as N il de Rwena Vista, on the Galfe Dukce.  Naco is the
wame WA ploasant awd spacions valler, surrcusded by fertile hills,
hotweon Nan Dedee Zwia amd Paerte Cabalkes,
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or through some of the principal Mexicans I had with me.
They told them who I was, and what I had done in their
country, and how well they all had been treated by me since
they became my friends, and how they were protected and
governed in justice in everything concerning themselves,
their wives, their children, and their property ; how, on the
contrary, those who were rebellious to your Majesty’s autho-
rity I considered my enemies, and treated them as such,
doing them all the harm I could. These and other similar
suggestions had the effect of somewhat calming the fears of
the natives, who came to me saying, that they had well
understood what these Mexicans told them ; but that they
still doubted of its being true, because those captains who
had arrived in their country before me had held a similar
language to them, and yet had told a lie; for immediately
after their submission, they had taken from them their wives
to make their bread, and the men to carry loads on their
backs ; that they very much feared that notwithstanding my
promises I would do the same. I again spoke to them through
the interpreter, and through those Mexicans who came with
me, assuring them that what I told them was the plain truth ;
and as they saw that the Indians of my suite seemed happy
and well treated, they had confidence in my words, and
went away promising to persuade their chiefs and comrades.
And so they did ; for a few days after this, I received intel-
ligence from the captain, saying that many Indian families
belonging to the neighbouring villages, such as Naco—where
the Spaniards had settled—Quimistlan, Zula, Cholome,! and
others, the smallest of which counted at least two thousand
houses or fires, had peaceably returned to their dwellings,
announcing that all the natives of that extensive province
would soon do the same, having been informed who 1 was,

! One of the copies has these names differently: Quimotlan, Zecla y

Tholoma; another ome reads Zola y Choleme, whilst a third offers
Quimixtitlan,
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pointed in New Spain, and doing other official acts respect-
ing the possession and population of the said town, always
in your worship’s name, and as your governor and licutenant,
for such he was. Some days after this, he, the said Christo-
val de Olid, made common cause with various servants of
Diego Velasquez, who had accompanied the expedition from
Cuba, and went through certain formalities, by which it was
evident that he intended to shake off the obedience he owed
to your worship ; and, although most of us blamed him for
his conduct, we dared not remonstrate, because he threatened
us with the gallows, but, on the contrary, feigned to approve
of everything he did, especially when we saw that the very
relatives and servants of your worship, who formed part of
the expedition, had done the same; no doubt because they
were not prepared to offer any resistance. Having received
intelligence after this, through six messengers of Gil Gon-
zalez de Avila, another of your worship’s captains, whom he
caused to be imprisoned, that the said captain, sent by your
worship, was coming down upon him in force, Christoval
de Olid went in person to wait for him at the ford of a
certain river, by which he had forcibly to pass. Having, how-
ever, waited some days in vain, he left one of his lieutenants
with some force, and returned to this town, where he began
to fit out two caravels, and to provide them with artillery
and ammunition, with the intention of attacking a village
higher up the coast, where some of the people of Gil Gon-
zalez had previously made a settlement. He was thus en-
gaged, and preparing for this expedition, when Francisco
de las Casas unexpectedly entered the harbour with two
vessels. No sooner did Christoval de Olid ascertain who he
was, than he gave orders for the artillery of his caravels
to fire on him, which it did, albeit the said- Francisco de
las Casas several times hoisted the flag of peace, and kept
crying at the top of his voice that he was your worship’s
servant, and came there by your command. The artillery,
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Moreno to appoint him, Ruano, for our captain, saying that
we were determined to obey in future the orders of the
Audiencia, and not those of your worship. We were to
make a petition to this effect, and sign it with all our names,
including an oath of allegiance to the said Juan Ruano, and
a promise that if any people or messengers came from your
worship, we were not only to disobey their orders, but even
to take up arms in our defence.

““Our answer to such propositions was that it was impossible
for us to accept, since we had taken a different oath. That
we were here settled for his Majesty, and in your worship’s
name, as his captain and governor, and could not do what
they asked from us. To this answer of ours the said Juan
Ruano replied that he again begged us to consider whether
it was not better for us to accept his proposals than die
through starvation. For certainly, he added, Moreno will
never give you a morsel of bread or a jug of water as long
as you persist in your refusal, having already announced his
determination to set sail and go away.

 Hearing this, we again met together, and compelled by
want, came to the resolution of granting everything that man
asked rather than expose ourselves to certain death through
starvation, or at the hands of the natives, for we had no
weapons wherewith to defend ourselves. We therefore told
Ruano that we were ready to comply with his wishes, and
that he could at once return to the caravel and announce
our intention. He did so, and soon after the said bachelor
Francisco Moreno came on shore, followed by many armed
people, and Juan Ruano had a petition drawn before the
notary of the place, signed by almost every one of us, and
strengthened by our oaths, in which we asked him, Ruano,
to be our captain and governor ; after which the alcalde, the
aldermen, the treasurer, the accounting master, and veedor
resigned their respective offices, and the name of the town
was changed—being called Ascension instead of Trujillo—
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enjoining him forthwith to quit the province, and restore to
the natives the property taken from them, as well as the
women and children he had made captives of. " I moreover
wrote him a letter, saying that if he wanted anything, he had
only to let me know, and I would immediately supply him
and his men with it, provided always I had it at hand.

No sooner did Gabriel de Rojas read the summons I
sent him through my alguazil, than in obedience to my
orders, he quitted that province, and went elsewhere; at
which the natives were much satisfied, though some time
after they again came to me complaining that after the de-
parture of my alguazil they had been visited by the same,
or another, marauding party, who had again taken some of
their people into captivity. This time I wrote to the above
mentioned captain, Francisco Hernandez, offering to supply
him and his men with anything they might want and I
could procure, on condition, however, that he would main-
tain himself in obedience to his governor, Pedro Arias, and
not molest those Indians who were living peaceably under
my rule, and sure as I was by making him such commenda-
tions, to promote the interests of your majesty. How far
the said captain has complied with my request since I left
that coast, ] am unable to say, but I learned from the ai-
guazil I sent to Gabriel de Rojas, and from those who ac-
companied him, that one day the said Gabriel de Rojas re-
ceived a letter from Francisco Hernandez, bidding him re-
turn in all haste with his men, as among those remaining
with him much dissension had arisen, two of his captains,
named Soto and Andres Garabito, having refused to obey him
on the plea that he himself was about to shake off the alle-
giance due to Pedro Arias. Matters, however, remained in
such a state that a split was inevitable, from which great
evils might be apprehended for the Spaniards, as well as
for the natives of that country. I leave it for your majesty
to consider how much harm these riots and discord may do











































































152 THE FIFTH LETTER OF HERNAN CORTES.

with the two seas. As soon as he returns, I shall not fail to
apprise your Majesty of the information he brings.

Every one of the captains above alluded to, is on the
point of starting on the expedition for which he is intended.
May God be pleased to guide them in a manner that may be
serviceable to Him and to your Majesty. For my own part,
I can only add, that I shall never cease to devote myself to
the imperial service, even if certain to incur your Majesty’s
further displeasure; for the time will come when my
faithful services shall be owned and recognised, and if that
should not be, I am well contented with doing my duty,
and knowing that all the world is aware of the fidelity with
which I have served. This conviction is enough for me,
and I wish no other inheritance for my children.

Most invincible sovereign, may God our Lord preserve for
many Years the life, and increase the power, of your sacred
Majesty. From this city of Tenuxtitlan, on the 3rd day of
September of 1526.

Herxaxpo Corres.




INDEX.

Acahuilguin, lord of Acuculin, 63, 64

Acalan, see Aculan.

Acuculin, provinceof, 63, 64, 65, 66,69

Aculan, province of, 21, 28; also
written Acalan, 29, 33, 49, 64,65,68

Acumba, a village up the river Cago-
atan, 12; written also Acumbra
and Atumba, 13

Acumbra, see Acumba.

Atumba, see Acumba.

Agualulco, a village, 7

Aguilar (Marcos de), a Spanish law-
yer, succeeds Luis Ponce in his
office, 138

Albornoz (Rodrigo de), accounting-
master at Mexico, 2, 6

Alderete (Julian de), royal treasurer
at Mexico, 142

Altamirano (Fr. Diego), a friar of St.
Francis and cousin of Cortes, 128

Alvarado (Pedro de), one of Cortes’
lieutenants, 4, 92, 119, 128, 129

Amohan, also written Almohan and
Amochan, chief of Checan, 58, 60

Anaxuxuan, the last village in the
province of Gupilco, 9

Apospolon, lord of Aculan, 34, 37,
64, 65

Arias Davila (Pedro), settles in
Tierra Firme and Nicaragua, 4,
117, 125, 127

Armildez Chirinos, see Chirino.

Ascension (Nuestra Sefiora de la),
name %iven by Moreno to the
town of Trujillo, 3, 108

Ascension Bay, on the coast of Hon-
duras, 3

Asuncapin, written also Suncapin.

Auecapin and Huescapin, a farm in
the district of Checan, 60

Avalos (Juan de), a cousin of Cortes,
disabled by a fall from his horse,
61, 69; drowned, 115

Axucutaco, see Xucutaco.

Caballos, Puerto, also known as
Port San Andres, 99
Caltencingo, also written Caltaneingo

and Taltenango, a village on the
Cagoatespan river, 28

Canec, a chief of the Itzaes, 50; also
written Kanec and Canek, ib.

Casas (Francisco de las), a cousin
of Cortes and one of his lieu-
tenants, 4; sent to the coast of
Honduras, 70, 97; his differences
with Christoval de Olid, 100, 101,
102; has him arrested and put to
death, 103; returns to Mexico,
104; receives instructions from
Cortes, 119, 120

Cazabe, a sort of bread used in the
‘Western Islands, 75, 76

Cecoatl, also written Cecoael and
Lecoalt, an Indian chief among
the Papayecas, 112

Chaantel or Chuantel, a village, 82

Chacujal, on the bay of Honduras,
82, 88, 92

Chalchicuela, Indian name for Vera-
cruz, 131, 132

Champagua, province of, 111, 112,
121, 122

Checan, also written Chegan, an In-
dian village in the province of
Magatlan, 58, 59, 60

Chianteco, a village in the province
of Taniha, 67

Chichimeca, a nation of warlike In-
dians, 150, 151

Chilapan, & town, and capital of the
province so named, 12, 13; de-
scribed, 14

Chirino, (Pero Armildez), one of
the royal officers at Mexico, 2, 6

Chiwhuytl, a chief of the Cham-
pagua, 122

Cholome, written also Choleme and
Tholoma, a village on the bay of
Honduras, 96

Chuantel or Chuhantel, the same as
Chaantel, 82

Cicimbra, a village in the province
of Cagoatan, 13

Coabata or Coabita, a village of the
Papayecas, 112

11
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Coalzasestal, the same as Coaza-
coalco, 28
Coatlan, see Uttatlan.
Coazacoalco,.a province, 3, 10, 28,
129
Colima, called also Coliman, a town
on the shores of the South Sea, 151
Contreras (Alonso de), an agent of
Cortes at Cuba, 99
Coplisco, Cuplisco, and Cupilco, now
called Tupilcos, a province, 7
Corrientes, Cape of, also called San
Anton, in the island of Cuba, 115
Cozumel, an island, 115
Culua, a province of New Spain, 113
Cunuapé, a town and district ad-
joining Tabasco, called Icunuapd
y Bernal Diaz, 9, 10
acatula, 148
'agoatan, province of, 8, 10, 17; also
written Zagoatan, 44
Gupilco, province of, 7

Encomienda, meaning of the word, 8

Especieria, Islas de la, name given
by Spaniards to the Molucco and
other islands yielding spice, 148,
149

Espiritu Santo, a town in the pro-
vince of Coazacoalco, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7,

34

Estrada (Alonso de), a royal officer
at Mexico, 2; left by Cortes in
command of that city, ib.; quarrels
with Rodrigo de Albornoz, 3

Garabito (Andres), a captain under
Pedro Arias Davila, 127

Golfo Dulce, 93

Gonzalez Davila (Gil),sent by Cortes
on an expedition to Honduras, 70,
71, 75, 76, 97, 100, 101, 102, 104

Grijalba, river of, called also Tabasco

" river, 119

Guanacaxin, lord of Tescuco, enters
into a conspiracy against Cortes’
life, 40

Guateumogin, lord of Tenuxtitlan,
or Mexico, his conspiracy against
Cortes detected, 40; is tried and
executed, 41

Guaniguanico, a port in the island
of Cuba, 115

Guayape, a river, 126

Giienejos (Los), name of certain
islands opposite to Honduras, 130

Guezalapa, a river, 9

INDEX.

Hesucapin, see Asuncapin, 60

Hernandez (Francisco), lieutenant
of Pedro Arias Davila, 124, 125,
126, 127

Hernandez Portocarrero (Alonso),
sent by Cortes to Charles V, 141

Honduras, gulf of, 97

Huazacoalco, the same as Coaza-
coalco, q. V.

Hueitapatlau, a province near the
bay of Honduras, called also
Xucutaco, 118

Huititla, one of the Guenejoislands,
130

Huilacho, Huilancho, or Huilcacho,
a province, 126

Hurtado (Diego), a pilot, 8

I¢ancanac, written also Cancanar,
name of a village, 38, 39

Icunuapa, see Iquinuapa and Cunu-
apa.

Ttza, province and territory of the, 49

Iztapan, a village, 15, 17

Janiha, see Taniha.
Japuitel, see Tupuytel.

Kanec, see Canec.

Lacandones, lake of the, 50

Las Casas, see Casas.

Las Hibueras, gulf of, 142, 148, 151
Las Palmas, river of, 1560

Lecoalt, see Cecoatl.

Leguela, an Indian village, 76
Loaysa, Captain, 147

Magatlan, a province, 44, 45, 49, 50,

51, 65

Malacca, 149

Malucco, islands, 147, 149

Mayapan, capital of the Itzaes, 50

Mazatl, a Papayeca Indian chief,
123; betrayed and put to death, ib.

Mechuacan, province of, 150

Medellin, & town of New Spain, 6,
132

Merlo (Rodrigo de), captain of a
caravel, 130

Merxicalcingo, a baptised Mexican,
otherwise named Christoval, dis-
covers a conspiracy against
Cortes, 40



INDEX.

Mondoreto, a chief of the Cham-
pagua, 122

Montamal, also called Montuval, an
Indian chief, 112

Montejo (Francisco de), sent by
Cortes to the emperor, 141, 143

Montuval, see Montamal.

Moreno (Fra 0), the bachelor,
gent to Honduras by, the judges
of Hispaniola, 98, 106, 107, 108,
113, 124

Muteczuma, emperor of Mexico, 113,
142

Naco,an Indian town; the Spaniards
settle in it, 75, 95, 102, 119, 124

Narvaez (Pamfilo de), 142

Natividad de Nuestra Sefiora, a town
in the bay of Honduras, 96, 119

Navidad, see Natividad.

Nicaragua, expedition to, 117

Nito, also called San Gil de Golfo
Dulce, 43, 68; Spaniards found at,
75, 97, 115

Nieto (Diego), visits Cortes, 71

Nohuken, one of the native names
for Lake Itza, 50

Nuestra Sefiora de los Remedios y
San Pablo, name given by Spani-
ards to the town of Tayasal on
the lake Itza, 56

Ocampo (Diego de), sent to Spain
with treasure, 143

Ocumbea, a village, 13

Olid (Christoval de), one of Cortes’
lieutenants, sent to Honduras, 1,
2, 4,76, 77; his behaviour towards
Francisco de las Casas, 97, 99; is
sentenced to death and executed,
100, 101, 102, 103

Olancho, a valley, 126

Otlatan, province of, 128

Ozumazintlan, a village, 23, 27

Panuco, a province, 150

Papayeca, also called Papayecua and
Papayegua, a province, 121, 126

Paz(Rodrigo de), a servant of Cortes,
6; imprisoned, 117

Pedrarias, see Arias Davila.

Peralmindez Chirinos, see Chirino.

Peten, lake of, 50

Peten Itza, a province, 56

Petenecte, a village on the river of
Cagoatespan, 26; also written

enecte.
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Pizacura, a chief of the Papayeca,
taken prisoner, 123 ; dies, 124

Ponce (Luis), a magistrate; is sent
to Mexico to inquire into the acts
of Cortes, 135; dies, ib.

Portocarrero, see Hernandez.

Poto, a chief of the Champagua, 122

Puerto-Caballos, a port on the bay
of Honduras, 76, 93

Puerto del Alabastro, a mountain-
pass in the province of Taiza; why
so called by Cortes, 50

Quezalapa, a river; one of the tri-
butaries of the Tabasco, 9

Quiatcho or Quiatleo, also written
Quiniacho, name given by the na-
tives to the province of Magatlan,
44, 49

Quimixtitlan, also written Quimist-
lan and Quimotlan, an Indian
village, 96

Quiniacho, see Quiatcho.

Remedios-Peten, an island on the
lake Itza, 53

Rojas (Gabriel de), 126, 127

Ruano (Juan), 107, 108

Saavedra (Hernando de), a cousin
and lieutenant of Cortes; ap-
pointed governor of Trujillo, 118,
131

San Andres, bay and village of, 97,
124

San Francisco, a convent and church
in Mexico, 134

Salazar (Gonzalo de), a factor, ac-
companies Cortes in his expedi-
tion, 2; is sent back to Mexico, 6

San Anton or Corrientes, a cape in
the island of Cuba, 115

Sandoval gonza.lo de), 124

———— (Hernando), a cousin and
lieutenant of Cortes, 125, 126

San Esteban del Puerto, on the
banks of the Panuco river, 34

San Gil de Buenavista on the Golfo
Dulce, 76, 93 .

San Pedro Zula, on the bay of Hon-
duras, 76

Santiago de Guatemala, 119

Soto, a lieutenant of Francisco Her-
nandez, 126

—— (Diego de), a servant of Cortes,
143
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Tabasco, river of, 3, 149

Tacatel or Tacatelz, a Mexican chief,
called also Tacateleand Tacitecle, 40

Tacuba, a district of New Spain, 40

Taiza, written also Taica and Tahica,
province of, 49, 50, 65

Tahuytel, written also Tatahuytal,
a village, 60, 63

Taltenango, see Caltencingo.

Tamastepeque and Tamacastepe-
que, a village in the province of
Chilapan ; the same as Tepetitan.

Taniha, also written Janiha, a pro-
vince, 68, 69

Tatahuitalpan, also written Yatal-
hiiitalpan, a village in the pro-
vince of Iztapan, 20, 22

Tautitan, also written Teutitan and
Testitan, a village in the province
of Cagoatespan, 28

Taxuytel, also written Japuitel and
Japitel, a farmhouse in the dis-
trict of Checan, 60

Teculutlan, a village, 92

Telica, a village in the province of
Champagua, 112

Tenciz or Teneis, the farms of, 60;
arrival of Cortes at, 61, 65

Tenuxtitlan, ancient name for Mex-
ico, 1, 2, 113

Tepetitan or Tepetican, a village in
the province of Chilapan, called
also Tamacastepeque, 14, 15

Tetepanquegal, lord of Tacuba, en-
ters into a conspiracy against
Cortes, 40; is tried and hung, 41

Teucas, supposed to be the same as
Tenciz, 61

Teutiercar, also written Teutiercas
and Tentacras, a village, 36, 37

Teutitan, see Tautitan.

Tezcuco, the lord of, enters into a
conspiracy against Cortes, 40

Tiac, also written Tiacle and Tiaz,
a village in the province of Magat-
lan, 48, 49
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Tiasmicabil or Yasuncabil, the last
village in the province of Magat-
lan, 49

Tigatepelt, a village in the province
of Aculan, 35 ’

Tlatilulco, a district near Mexico, 40

Trinidad, a port in the island of
Cuba, 115, 116

Troche (Gaepar), a merchant from
the island of San Juan, 107

Trujillo, town of, 104, 115, 121

Tumalon, a village, 7

Tziminchak, an idol of the Itzaes, 53

Uttatlan, also written Coatlan, pro-
vince of, 129

Uzumazintlan or Imagintlan, a vil-
lage, 27

Valenzuela, master of a ship; his
crew’s mutiny, 116

Velazquez(Diego), governorof Cuba,
99

Xiculango, a province, 3, 34

Xucutaco, a district sixty miles from
Trujillo, written also Azucutaco,
118

Yaiza, see Taiza.

Yasa, river, 72

Yazuncabil, the same as Tiasmicabil,
49 :

Zagoatan, see Cagoatan.

Zalapa, a river, 9

Zapoetecas, land of the, 149

Zuazo (Alonso de), 2, 6; imprisoned,
116, 117

Zuezalapa, the river called by others
Guezalapa and Quezalapa, 9

Zula, written also Zola and Zecla, a
village on the bay of Honduras, 96

Zupilco, see (zupilco.
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